Nos. 21-CV-358, 21-CV-359, 21-CV-390, 21-CV-391, 21-CV-579, 21-CV-580

Clerk of the Court Received 11/02/2021 07:10 PM RT OF APPEA IE d 11/02/2021 07:10 PM

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEAE d 11/02/2021 07:10 PM

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE,

V.

BET ACQUISITION CORP.; BLACK ENTERTAINMENT TELEVISION LLC, Appellees/Cross-Appellants.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIEF FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

KARL A. RACINE Attorney General for the District of Columbia

LOREN L. ALIKHAN Solicitor General

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Principal Deputy Solicitor General

CARL J. SCHIFFERLE Deputy Solicitor General

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Plaintiff BET Acquisition Corp. held the ground leases for two adjacent properties owned by the District of Columbia. In 2017, it contracted to assign the leases to a real-estate developer. As part of the same contract, plaintiff Black Entertainment Television LLC ("BET LLC") agreed to sell the developer a third adjacent property that BET LLC owned in fee simple. The ground leases required Acquisition Corp. to obtain the District's written consent for such an assignment, which the District could not "unreasonably" withhold. One of the leases, Ground Lease Two, also gave the District discretion to decide whether, in the District's "sole judgment," a tenant's use of the property would adequately promote the job-creation and economic-development goals of the District-created industrial park where the properties were located. Unconvinced that the developer's use of the property would meet those goals, the Mayor denied Acquisition Corp.'s assignment request. Plaintiffs sued, arguing that the denial was unreasonable and that the District had thus breached the leases and tortiously interfered with their deal with the developer. After a bench trial, the court (Puig-Lugo, J.) ruled in plaintiffs' favor and awarded them over \$16 million in damages. The issues presented are:

1. Whether the trial court's liability ruling must be reversed because (a) the Mayor's denial of consent under Ground Lease Two was reasonable given her extraordinary discretion under the lease terms to decide whether a tenant's use would adequately promote the economic-development aims of the industrial park, and (b) the reasonable denial as to Ground Lease Two rendered the denial as to Ground Lease One reasonable also, since plaintiffs' deal with the developer was contingent on the assignment of *both* leases.

2. Whether the damages award must be vacated because BET LLC failed to file timely pre-suit notice of its tort claim as required by D.C. Code § 12-309.

3. Whether the damages award must be vacated or reduced because (a) the trial court's determination of the properties' current worth was based in part on a purported expert opinion that the expert never offered at trial; (b) the prompt post-judgment sale of the properties for far more than the trial court's estimate means that plaintiffs will reap a windfall profit of more than \$2 million in taxpayer funds; and (c) the judgment failed to account for \$400,000 in deposits that plaintiffs received from the developer, which reduced their damages.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs filed their initial suit, Superior Court No. 2018 CA 002023 B ("No. 2023"), on March 23, 2018. Joint Appendix ("JA") 32. They filed a second suit, Superior Court No. 2018 CA 006351 B ("No. 6351"), on September 5, 2018, JA 696, and the cases were soon consolidated, JA 169-70. On October 21, 2020, following a bench trial, the court found the District liable and awarded injunctive relief, but reserved the question of damages. JA 523. After hearing further

2

testimony, the court issued a damages decision on February 25, 2021, JA 570, and entered final judgment on March 10, 2021, JA 587. The District timely moved to alter the judgment, and the court denied the motion on May 19, 2021. JA 621. The District timely appealed that order and the final judgment (Nos. 21-CV-358 & -359). JA 627. Plaintiffs in turn timely cross-appealed (Nos. 21-CV-390 & -391). JA 629. In July 2021, the District moved for relief from the final judgment, and the court denied that motion on August 13, 2021. JA 677. The District timely appealed that order as well (Nos. 21-CV-579 & -580). JA 683.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The BET Campus And The Ground Leases.

A subsidiary of media conglomerate Viacom, BET LLC is a leading provider of entertainment, music, news, and public affairs programming to African-American audiences. Acquisition Corp., in turn, is a wholly owned subsidiary of BET LLC. 10/6/20 PM Tr. 71:18-20. Where the distinction between these two entities is immaterial, this brief will refer to them collectively as "BET" or "plaintiffs."

From the mid-1990s until 2017, BET's national headquarters was located in the District's Brentwood neighborhood, with its entrance at 1235 W Street, NE. By the 2000s, the "BET Campus" comprised three parcels, known as Parcels B, C, and E. The diagram on the next page illustrates the rough boundaries of these parcels, which are described in turn.



Parcel B is owned by the District. JA 523. It lies within an economicdevelopment area known as the Capital City Business and Industrial Park, which the District created "to foster the industrial and commercial development of the New York Avenue, N.E., corridor of the District." JA 523 (¶ 1), 952. The District originally leased Parcel B to the Washington Beef Limited Partnership, which built a refrigerated warehouse on the northeast portion of the parcel. JA 523 (¶ 1). In 1992, Washington Beef assigned the lease to Acquisition Corp. as part of a foreclosure sale. JA 523 (¶ 2). BET renovated the warehouse, turning it into a film and television studio known as Studio 2. JA 524 (¶ 6). On the southwest half of Parcel B, BET constructed a six-story office building that served as its headquarters. JA 524 (¶ 6).¹

¹ Parcel B encompasses two assessment-and-taxation lots: number 0142 0134 to the northeast (Studio 2), and number 0142 0133 to the southwest (the office building). *See* JA 1065.

The lease for Parcel B is known as Ground Lease One. JA 523 (¶ 1). The District and Acquisition Corp. amended this lease several times between 1992 and 2015. JA 876-909. Among other terms, Ground Lease One (as amended) states that the tenant "may assign the Ground Lease, or any portion thereof, to [an entity unrelated to BET] upon notice to the District and the prior written approval of the District, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld." JA 880.

Parcel C lies just northeast of Parcel B. It too is owned by the District and located within the Capital City Business and Industrial Park. JA 523. The District leased Parcel C to Acquisition Corp. in 1999, and BET thereafter used the parcel as a parking lot to support the rest of the Campus. JA 525-26 (¶¶ 8, 13). The lease for Parcel C is known as Ground Lease Two. JA 525 (¶ 8). Like Ground Lease One, it permitted assignment of the lease with the District's prior written approval, which "shall not be unreasonabl[y] withheld." JA 944.

Unlike Ground Lease One, however, Ground Lease Two incorporates important use restrictions contained in a "Declaration of Protective Covenants for the Capital City Business and Industrial Park." JA 914 ("Parcel C shall be used only as permitted by the Declaration of Protective Covenants "); *see* JA 949 (Declaration of Protective Covenants). The Protective Covenants provide that

no use or operation shall be permitted that, *in the sole judgment of the Declarant* [i.e., the District]: (A) is not compatible with the thenexisting or contemplated uses in the Park and the surrounding neighborhood (including adjacent residential areas); (B) does not offer sufficient employment opportunities for residents of the District of Columbia; or (C) does not comply with the purposes for the development of the Park as set forth in Article II.

JA 966-67 (emphasis added); *see* JA 525 (¶ 10). The "purposes for the development of the Park" include, among other things, "foster[ing] the industrial and commercial development of the New York Avenue, N.E., corridor . . . by attracting new businesses and industries that might otherwise relocate outside the District," and "expand[ing] the availability to full-time, permanent employment opportunities, particularly in the blue-collar and technical fields." JA 952; *see* JA 525 (¶ 11).

Parcel E is the third and final component of the Campus. Unlike the first two parcels, Parcel E is not owned by the District. Instead, during the relevant period, BET LLC owned Parcel E in fee simple. 10/6/20 PM Tr. 72:16-18 (stipulation).² Parcel E contains a building, Studio 3, used partly as a studio and partly as a warehouse. JA 524 (¶ 7); 10/5/20 AM Tr. 100:14-20 (Stevenson).

2. BET's Agreement To Sell The Campus To Jemal's TEB.

In 2016, BET decided to wind down its operations on the Campus and sell its interests in the properties. *See* JA 527 (¶ 19). Among the potential buyers was the District itself. The District's Department of General Services ("DGS"), which is responsible for acquiring and managing the District's real property holdings,

² The trial court's liability decision states several times that Acquisition Corp. owned Parcel E, *see, e.g.*, JA 524 (\P 7), but that is clearly wrong.

partnered with a developer, Boundary Companies, to submit a joint bid for the Campus. JA 526-27 (¶¶ 17, 20). Under their proposal, the District would have acquired Parcels C and E for the operation of the Circulator Bus program run by the District's Department of Transportation ("DDOT"). JA 527 (¶ 20), 1066-67. Although BET initially accepted this offer, DGS and Boundary were ultimately unable to complete the transaction. 10/14/20 AM Tr. 27:5-18 (Fuller); JA 1202.

Instead, in April 2017, BET signed a deal to sell the Campus to Jemal's TEB LLC. JA 527 (¶ 24). Jemal's TEB was a special-purpose entity created by Douglas Jemal, the president of Douglas Development Corporation. JA 527-28 (¶¶ 24, 26). Jemal's TEB agreed to pay \$26.75 million for the Campus. JA 571 (¶¶ 6, 8). The parties expected to close in mid-September 2017, contingent on BET obtaining the District's consent to assign both ground leases to Jemal's TEB. JA 571 (¶¶ 6, 8). Jemal's TEB paid BET a deposit of \$1.5 million and agreed to pay an additional \$50,000 deposit per month until closing (though the parties later agreed to stop these additional payments). JA 571, 573 (¶¶ 7, 13); *see* JA 1186.

3. The District's Denial Of Consent To The Proposed Lease Assignments.

Between April and October 2017, BET made, and the District denied, three requests to assign the leases to Jemal's TEB. DGS denied the first two. BET's third request, however, went to the Mayor. Disagreeing with DGS's recommendation to grant the third request, Mayor Bowser herself made the decision to deny it.

7

A. DGS's first and second denials.

BET first asked the District to consent to the lease assignments in April 2017. JA 528 (¶ 25); *see* JA 1194-96. This request "provided no information about the ability of the proposed assignee to satisfy financial obligations under the leases or whether the assignee's intended uses for the premises were consistent with the terms of each lease." JA 528 (¶ 27). The next month, DGS Director Greer Gillis sent BET a letter denying the request. JA 529 (¶ 34). She explained that BET's request did not contain information that the District needed to assess the proposed assignment, "including the intended uses of the leased premises." JA 1225.

Later in May, Yohance Fuller, the head of DGS's Portfolio Management Division, conferred with BET representatives about the assignment request. JA 530-31 (¶ 41). He explained that DGS sought "(1) a more detailed description of the proposed assignee's proposed uses, (2) financial information about the proposed assignee or a guaranty from a parent entity to comply with tenant obligations and (3) a proposed form of consent for DGS review." JA 530-31 (¶ 41).

BET soon submitted a second assignment request. JA 531 (¶42); *see* JA 1499-1501. The request did not include information about Jemal's TEB's finances other than the fact that, if the sale closed, Jemal's TEB's balance sheet would include Parcel E and the improvements on Parcels C and B. JA 1499-1500. Nor did the request contain a lease guaranty. *See* JA 1499-1501.

8

Regarding the assignee's proposed uses of Parcels B and C, BET forwarded a one-page memo from Douglas Jemal dated May 12, 2017. JA 1502. The memo stated that Jemal's TEB intended "to continue to use the office building [on Parcel B] as commercial office, including leasing to 3rd parties." JA 1502. As for Studio 2 (also on Parcel B), it would continue to be used "as a television/production studio," but "[a]lternate or additional uses may include charter schools, retail, or industrial-type uses." JA 1502. Last, the memo said that Jemal's TEB would "continue to use Parcel C as supplemental parking to support the rest of the property." JA 1502. But the memo closed with a broad caveat: "Notwithstanding the foregoing, Purchaser reserves all rights to operate the property for any or all of the uses that are permitted by the ground leases, the PDR-4 zoning and any future zoning." JA 1502.

DGS denied BET's second assignment request in July 2017. JA 532 (¶ 48); see JA 1336-37. DGS explained that the information BET had provided was "insufficient for a landlord to assess the ability of a proposed assignee to make rental payments and otherwise perform under a lease." JA 1336. DGS noted that "a lease guaranty from Douglas Development Corp." would address DGS's financial concern. JA 1336.

B. The leaseback proposal.

During the same period that it was fielding BET's assignment requests, DGS was also negotiating with Jemal about a potential deal involving the Campus. In

April, Jemal proposed that, after acquiring the Campus from BET, he would lease Parcel C (the parking lot) and Parcel E (Studio 3) back to the District for DDOT to use as a Circulator Bus facility. JA 528 (¶ 29), 1198, 1381. DGS rejected this initial offer but expressed interest in a leaseback deal that would also include the Studio 2 portion of Parcel B. JA 1381.

After trading several proposals and counter-proposals, *see* JA 1382-83, Jemal and DGS "reach[ed] an agreement in principle as to the terms" of a leaseback deal on June 15. 10/6/20 AM Tr. 57:18-24; *see* JA 531 (¶ 43), 1256-61. Jemal would lease Parcel C, Parcel E, and the Studio 2 portion of Parcel B to the District for a base rent of \$2.7 million per year. JA 1383. The space would primarily be used by DDOT as a Circulator Bus facility, though the District's Office of Cable Television, Film, Music and Entertainment would also use part of Studio 2. JA 1383. DGS restated the essential terms of the leaseback deal in final (though unexecuted) letters of intent that were drafted by mid-July. JA 1385; *see* JA 1307-34 (unexecuted letters of intent).³

In an important respect, the leaseback deal conflicted with Jemal's earlier May memo describing Jemal TEB's intended uses of the Campus. That memo had said

³ The trial court described Jemal's June 15 proposal as entailing the "lease [of] the entirety of the BET Campus to the District." JA 531 (¶ 43). That is incorrect. As the letters of intent confirm, the proposal did not include the office building portion of Parcel B. JA 1307 (defining "Parcel B" to mean only lot 0142 0134); *see* 10/14/20 AM Tr. 34:1-9 (Fuller).

that Parcel C, containing approximately 156 parking spaces, would continue to be used "as supplemental parking to support the rest of the property," JA 1502, including the six-story office building. The office building portion of Parcel B contained only 127 parking spaces of its own, less than half the number a building of that size would likely need. JA 1052; 10/15/20 PM Tr. 56:6-10 (Sherwood); *see* JA 576 (¶ 32) ("Parcel C provides parking space that is needed to support activities on Parcels B and E."). Under the leaseback deal, however, Parcel C would become part of the Circulator Bus facility and thus would no longer provide supplemental parking for the office building (or Studio 2).

C. BET's third assignment request and the Mayor's denial.

In August, after DGS and Jemal had reached their "agreement in principle" on the leaseback deal's terms, BET submitted a third request to assign the leases to Jemal's TEB. JA 533 (¶ 52); *see* JA 1338-39. BET explained that Douglas Development had "now agreed to provide a lease guaranty as per [DGS's] request." JA 1339. Given this lease guaranty, Gillis and Fuller now believed that the assignment request should be granted. 10/6/20 AM Tr. 90:1-11 (Gillis); 10/14/20 AM Tr. 18:3-9 (Fuller). DGS recommended approving the assignment and moving forward with the leaseback proposal. JA 534-35 (¶ 58); *see* JA 1386.

But the third decision was not left to DGS. By August, BET had brought the assignment issue to the attention of high-ranking members of Mayor Bowser's

administration, including Senior Adviser Beverly Perry and City Administrator Rashad Young. JA 533 (¶ 53); *see* JA 1387. Given the importance of the issue, the administration decided that Mayor Bowser would make the final decision. 10/6/20 AM Tr. 98:24-99:11 (Gillis); 10/6/20 PM Tr. 74:24-25 (stipulation).

In its decision-point memo to Mayor Bowser, DGS described the Campus, DDOT's interest in using it as a Circulator Bus facility, the leaseback proposal, and BET's assignment request. JA 1443-45. DGS recommended that Mayor Bowser consent to the assignment. JA 1443, 1447. It explained that, after consenting, the District could secure the site for DDOT through the leaseback deal or eminent domain. JA 1445-47. In contrast, Perry recommended that the Mayor deny consent based on her view that the leases contained an "an economic development thread" that the assignment would not satisfy. JA 534 (¶ 55), 541 n.1.

In October 2017, Mayor Bowser denied BET's assignment request. See JA 535 (¶¶ 59-61). She understood that if the leases were assigned, Jemal intended to lease the Campus back to the District for bus storage and maintenance. JA 535 (¶ 60); see 10/15/20 PM Tr. 30:8-11. She further understood "the intent of those leases [to be] to produce jobs and economic development at that business and industrial park." 10/15/20 PM Tr. 12:2-4. "[I]n [her] view," moving a Circulator Bus facility to the Campus would not "constitute economic development" but instead would simply "support[] existing District government operations." 10/15/20

PM Tr. 17:3-14. The Mayor therefore "decided to deny consent for the assignments because the assignments would not create jobs or promote economic development." JA 535 (¶ 60); *see* 10/15/20 PM Tr. 13:22-24, 30:10-13.

The Mayor's denial of the third request was conveyed to BET in an October 13 letter drafted by Perry and other staff and signed by Gillis. JA 535 (¶ 61); *see* JA 1482-83. In addition to noting the District's denial of consent to the assignment, the letter also asserted that BET had "default[ed] under the Ground Leases based upon BET's cessation of operations on the Ground Lease properties." JA 1482.

4. Plaintiffs' Suit And Disputed Compliance With D.C. Code § 12-309.

Plaintiffs filed their first action in Superior Court (No. 2023) in March 2018. JA 32. The complaint contained four counts. The first two alleged that the District had breached the leases with Acquisition Corp. by unreasonably withholding consent to the proposed assignment. JA 42-43 (¶¶ 56-71). The third count alleged, on behalf of both Acquisition Corp. and BET LLC, that the District's unreasonable withholding of consent constituted tortious interference with their prospective transaction with Jemal's TEB. JA 43-44 (¶¶ 72-76). The fourth count sought a declaratory judgment that, contra the District's October 13 letter, Acquisition Corp. was not in default under the leases. JA 44-45 (¶¶ 77-83).

The District moved to dismiss the tortious interference claim on the ground that plaintiffs had not complied with D.C. Code § 12-309. JA 75-76. Section 12-

309 requires a party to submit a written notice of a claim to the Mayor within six months of an injury before the party can sue the District for unliquidated tort damages. *See* D.C. Code § 12-309(a). Plaintiffs had not presented a written notice to the Mayor before suing, the District argued, and their tort claim was therefore barred. JA 75-76.

Plaintiffs responded with a procedural three-step. On July 18, they amended their complaint as a matter of right to remove the tort claim. *See* JA 79, 90 (omitting Count III). The next day, they filed a formal claim notice. JA 1496-97. And the day after that, they sought to amend their complaint to re-add the tort claim, arguing that they had now indisputably complied with Section 12-309. JA 93-97. But the trial court denied leave to amend. A Section 12-309 notice must be received *before* a plaintiff sues, the court explained, and because plaintiffs' second amended complaint would relate back to the date of the original complaint (March 23), the July 19 notice was ineffective. JA 136-39.

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