Appeal Nos.

21-CV-358, 21-CV-359, 21-CV-390, 21-CV-391, 21-CV-579 & 21-CV



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEAL Seceived 12/02/2021 09:26 PM Resubmitted 12/03/2021 12:30 PM

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,

Appellant,

v.

BET ACQUISITION CORP. and BLACK ENTERTAINMENT TELEVISION LLC,

Appellees.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, CIVIL DIVISION (The Honorable Hiram E. Puig-Lugo)

2018 CA 002023 B & 2018 CA 006351 B

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

Caroline Petro Gately*
Theodore B. Randles
VENABLE LLP
600 Massachusetts Avenue, N.W.
Washington, DC 20001
(202) 344-4000
cpgately@venable.com
tbrandles@venable.com

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

³⁶ See Toys "R" Us, Inc. v. NBD Trust Co. Ill., No. 88 C 10349, 1995 WL 591459, at *40-43, 45 (N.D. Ill. Oct. 4, 1995) (decision based on assumptions contrary to the facts available to the decision maker is not reasonable); Sharp v. Feldman, 159 Misc. 2d 494, 497, 605 N.Y.S.2d 616, 618-19 (N.Y. Civ. Ct. 1993); see also Milton R. Friedman, Friedman on Leases, § 7:3.4 at 7-59 (6th ed. 2018).

³⁷ 1010 Potomac, 485 A.2d at 208-10.

³⁸ *Id.* at 202.

³⁹ *Id.* at 202, 204.

to enforce the landlord's obligation to consent to sublease without conditions.⁴⁰

This court agreed with the trial court's finding that the landlord was assured of the bargained-for benefits regarding the subtenant's intended uses and financial qualification.⁴¹ The landlord's willingness to enter into a lease directly with the subtenant was evidence that the subtenant was suitable.⁴² Therefore, the trial court found, the landlord refused its consent based on "economic considerations"— the desire to enter into a direct deal with the subtenant or share in the excess rent.

This court addressed the question of whether a landlord may reasonably withhold its consent to a sublease for economic advantage and held it may not.⁴³ The court stated, "[T]he other jurisdictions of which we are aware that have addressed a similar question have all concluded that a landlord may not for economic motives reasonably refuse consent to a sublease that fully protects the landlord's bargain under the prime lease."⁴⁴ In particular, the court held that "it is unreasonable for a landlord to withhold consent to a sublease solely to extract an economic concession

⁴⁰ *Id.* at 204-05.

⁴¹ *Id.* at 208, 207 n.10, 209 n.14.

⁴² *Id.* at 208.

⁴³ *Id.* at 208-10.

⁴⁴ *Id.* at 208-09.

or to improve its economic position."⁴⁵ "The purpose of the consent clause is protection of the landlord in its ownership and operation of the particular property, not protection of the landlord's general economic condition."⁴⁶ This is so because "the lessor's desire for a better bargain than contracted for has nothing to do with the permissible purposes of the restraint on alienation—to protect the lessor's interest in the preservation of the property and the performance of the lease covenants."⁴⁷ If the landlord is assured of performance of the tenant's obligations, the landlord is not entitled to demand more.⁴⁸

Here, withholding of consent to get the District's land back, even though it is encumbered by long-term ground leases, would improve the District's position. The Mayor's desire to get the land back is an unreasonable basis for denying consent.

⁴⁵ *Id.* at 210. The cases so holding are legion. *See, e.g., Pantry, Inc. v. Mosley*, 126 So. 3d 152, 159-60 (Ala. 2013); *Norville v. Carr-Gottstein Foods Co.*, 84 P.3d 996, 1001-02 (Alaska 2004); *Econ. Rentals, Inc. v. Garcia*, 819 P.2d 1306, 1317 (N.M. 1991); *Julian v. Christopher*, 575 A.2d 735, 739 (Md. 1990); *Kendall v. Ernest Pestana, Inc.*, 709 P.2d 837, 845 (Cal. 1985) (en banc); *Funk v. Funk*, 633 P. 2d 586, 589 (Idaho 1981); *Krieger v. Helmsley-Spear, Inc.*, 302 A.2d 129, 129 (N.J. 1973); *1963 Jackson, Inc. v. De Vos*, 436 S.W.3d 278, 292 (Ct. App. Tenn. 2013); *see also Roundup Tavern, Inc. v. Pardini*, 413 P.2d 820 (Wash. 1966).

⁴⁶ 1010 Potomac, 485 A.2d at 210.

⁴⁷ Kendall, 709 P.2d at 845.

⁴⁸ Filmways, Inc. v. 477 Madison Ave., Inc., 36 A.D.2d 609, 609 (N.Y. App. Div. 1971) (per curiam), aff'd, 282 N.E.2d 119 (N.Y. 1972).

E. The Mayor did not have sole discretion to decide whether to withhold the District's consent, as the District argues, and even if she did the discretion extended only to the parking lot lease.

In spite of the lease provisions expressly prohibiting the District from unreasonably withholding its consent to assignment, and in spite of the long history of cases interpreting such provisions to impose an objective standard of commercial reasonableness, the District argues that the Mayor enjoyed "extraordinary discretion" to deny consent in her "sole judgment," and so long as she exercised her discretion "in good faith" her decision was conclusive—even if it was a wrong or unreasonable decision. Br. 23, 26, 27. The District acknowledges that its proposed standard is subjective. Br. 27-28. The District's reading of the leases is far-fetched.

The District relies on a Declaration of Protective Covenants incorporated in Lease # 2 (Parcel C), the parking lot, but not in Lease # 1 (Parcel B). The Declaration purports to establish a park out of designated land and, in Article II, states that its purpose is to create a uniform plan to ensure proper maintenance, use and appropriate development of the park as a business and industrial park. JA 952. The trial court correctly concluded, and the District now concedes, that the Declaration does not apply to Lease # 1 (Parcel B). JA 546 ¶ 12; Br. 5.49 The trial court found

⁴⁹ The Declaration excludes Lease # 1 and the land subject to Lease #1 (Parcel B) in three places. Section 1.15 of the Declaration excludes the Washington Beef ground lease, which is Lease # 1. JA 951. The legal description in the Declaration excludes Parcel B. JA 984. And the metes and bounds description excludes the Washington Beef 1985 ground lease. *Id*.

that the Mayor's Senior Advisor erroneously interpreted Lease # 1 to be subject to the Declaration. JA 555 ¶ 54; 10/15/20 AM Tr. 61:13-20, 63:5-9 (Perry).

The District invokes § 6.2 of the Declaration for its "sole judgment" standard. That section lists permitted uses of property that is subject to the Declaration—here only Parcel C, the parking lot. It affirmatively provides that "any office, retail, light industrial, light manufacturing or assembly, research and development, or other nonresidential commercial use (including directly related ancillary uses) is permitted in the Park." JA 966 § 6.2. Parking is a "directly related ancillary use" to the existing and contemplated office and other nonresidential commercial uses of the BET Campus. Section 6.2 goes on to state that a use is not permitted that, "in the sole judgment of the [District] (A) is not compatible with the then-existing or contemplated uses in the Park and the surrounding neighborhood . . .; (B) does not offer sufficient employment opportunities for residents of the District of Columbia; or (C) does not comply with the purposes for the development of the Park as set forth in Article II." Id. Parking does not fall under any of these exceptions. Parking is "compatible" with the other uses of the BET Campus. Parking is for the campus employees and supports the other uses of the campus that generate employment opportunities. And, most significantly, off-street parking is encouraged by the purposes enumerated in Article II: to "provide adequate off-street parking with the Park." JA 953 item (5).

Here, Jemal affirmed his intention to continue to use Parcel C for parking to support the rest of the campus. JA 550-51 ¶ 36; JA 1231; 10/15/20 AM Tr. 66:2-10 (Perry). Since the Declaration itself *promotes* the use of Parcel C as a parking lot, 10/15/20 AM Tr. 63:10-13 (Perry), the Mayor could not exercise her "sole judgment" to reject the assignee's continued use of Parcel C for parking on the basis that it would do violence to the economic development objectives of the Declaration. And, in fact, the Mayor did not reject the assignee's continued use of Parcel C for parking. Rather, the Mayor objected to plans to use the BET Campus for a Circulator bus facility. JA 556 ¶ 60.

In any event, to the extent that § 6.2 of the Declaration gave the District discretion over permitted uses of Parcel C, its provisions are "subject to the provisions of any Lease." JA 967. Lease is defined to include BET's ground lease. JA 951 § 1.10. Therefore, the specific grant of assignment rights in Lease # 2 takes precedence over any general use restrictions in the Declaration. ⁵⁰

The District's interpretation of the Declaration to grant the District sole discretion over the use of subject property, and thereby condition BET's right of assignment, cannot be harmonized with other parts of the leases. Unlike assignment, which requires District approval, both leases give BET the right to sublet to anyone

⁵⁰ Cf. Astoria Bedding, Mr. Sleeper Bedding Ctr. Inc. v. Northside P'ship, 239 A.D.2d 775, 776 (N.Y. App. Div. 1997).

upon notice to the District—without the District's approval. JA 879 § 6(c); JA 943 § 6. Also, such an implied use restriction would violate the statute of frauds.

Even if denial of consent were reasonable under Lease # 2, the District has failed to explain how it would make reasonable an otherwise unreasonable denial under Lease # 1, especially since the Declaration does not apply to Lease # 1. *Executive Sandwich Shoppe* is inapplicable because the trial court there, unlike here, found the landlord's concerns (about one assignee's financial condition and another assignee's intended use in violation of the lease's use restrictions) were reasonable. ⁵¹ Therefore, the possibility that racial animus also motivated the landlord's decision, as the tenant argued, would not make it the proximate cause of the tenant's injury. ⁵²

Finally, if the court were to find that the proper standard is whether the Mayor's decision was made in good faith, regardless of whether the decision was wrong or unreasonable, this case would have to be remanded for further proceedings. The trial court properly declined to consider the issue of the Mayor's good faith as irrelevant. 10/19/20 AM Tr. 120:11-19. Remand on this issue would be necessary, given evidence that could support a finding of an ulterior motive, such as (1) the assertion that the Mayor wanted the land back while the District was attempting to

⁵¹ Exec. Sandwich Shoppe, Inc. v. Carr Realty Corp., 749 A.2d 724, 737 (D.C. 2000).

⁵² *Id*.

trigger an unlawful forfeiture of BET's property, (2) the Mayor's awareness that Douglas would be poised to exercise a purchase option and own the entirety of the District's land if she granted consent to assignment, JA 1556 78:3–79:11; JA 1445 (Bowser); 10/15/20 PM Tr. 23:23–24:13 (Bowser), and (3) the Mayor's stunning admission on cross-examination that she did not get to the point of considering the leaseback because she had already decided there would be no assignment by BET, 10/15/20 PM Tr. 26:15-19 (Bowser).

F. The District's request to rescind its consents is moot.

This court cannot grant the District's request to rescind the consents because it is moot. The campus has been sold to a third party not a party to this appeal or the underlying case. In the District of Columbia, "it is well-settled that, while an appeal is pending, an event that renders relief impossible or unnecessary also renders that appeal moot."⁵³ The sale of real property moots an appeal since "the sale of property generally precludes effective relief."⁵⁴ The District claims that the validity of the consents remains a live question if the appeal seeks "retransfer." Br. 35. But

⁵³ Thorn v. Walker, 912 A.2d 1192, 1195 (D.C. 2006) (quoting Settlemire v. District of Columbia Off. of Emp. Appeals, 898 A.2d 902, 905 (D.C. 2006)).

⁵⁴ Thorn, 912 A.2d at 1195 (citing Lathrop v. Sakatani, 141 P.3d 480, 486 (Haw. 2006)); see also Evans v. Fam. Sav. & Loan Ass'n of Va., 481 A.2d 1309, 1310 (D.C. 1984) (per curiam); Spingarn v. Landow & Co., 342 A.2d 41, 42 (D.C. 1975).

retransfer is possible only when the transferee is a party to the proceeding,⁵⁵ which is not the case here. This court cannot grant retransfer.

II. Notice of injury was not required by D.C. Code § 12-309, and in any case the trial court correctly found that the Mayor received adequate notice.

The District argues that BET LLC's tortious interference claim is barred for lack of statutory notice to the Mayor under D.C. Code § 12-309. For the first year of the litigation, the District perpetuated the fiction that the Mayor did not make the decision that injured BET. Its argument on appeal that BET was required to give statutory notice of injury to the Mayor is a vestige of that fiction. Revealed after discovery battles, the District ultimately stipulated to the truth: the Mayor made the decision to deny consent. 10/6/20 PM Tr. 74:24-25. The District's continued insistence that BET was required to give the Mayor notice of injury when the Mayor herself caused the injury is indefensible. The statute does not require written notice to the District when, as here, the tortious act is an act of the District and the District is aware of the injury, as notice would serve no purpose. Even if notice were required, the trial court correctly found that the Mayor received adequate written notice when her executive team delivered to her BET's counsel's letter detailing the injury BET suffered due to her wrongful denial of consent.

⁵⁵ See Muckleshoot Indian Tribe v. U.S. Forest Serv., 177 F.3d 800, 814-15 (9th Cir. 1999); cf. Burbank Anti-Noise Grp. v. Goldschmidt, 623 F.2d 115, 116 (9th Cir. 1980).

The District argues that the notice is inadequate as to BET LLC's claim because it references Acquisition Corp. but fails to mention BET LLC by name. Whether notice was adequate is a question of law that is reviewed *de novo*, but the standard for the adequacy of the notice's content is liberal.⁵⁶ In concluding that the Mayor received adequate notice, the trial court assumed without analysis that § 12-309 applies to BET LLC's claim. That issue is a question of law reviewed *de novo*.⁵⁷

A. Section 12-309 does not apply under the *Shehyn* doctrine.

The District's statutory notice defense fails because D.C. Code § 12-309 does not apply to this case. The statute provides,

[A]n action may not be maintained against the District of Columbia for unliquidated damages to person or property unless, within six months after the injury or damage was sustained, the claimant, his agent, or attorney has given notice in writing to the Mayor of the District of Columbia of the approximate time, place, cause, and circumstances of the injury or damage.⁵⁸

The requirement "was intended by Congress to ensure that District officials would be given reasonable notice of an accident so that the facts may be ascertained and, if possible, the claim adjusted." In light of the requirement's legislative purpose, this

⁵⁶ Wharton v. District of Columbia, 666 A.2d 1227, 1230-31 (D.C. 1995).

⁵⁷ See Shehyn v. District of Columbia, 392 A.2d 1008, 1013-14 (D.C. 1978).

⁵⁸ D.C. Code § 12-309(a).

⁵⁹ Shehyn, 392 A.2d at 1013 (cleaned up); see also Romer v. District of Columbia, 449 A.2d 1097 (D.C. 1982) (noting purpose to give District opportunity to investigate, correct hazardous conditions, and settle meritorious claims);

court in *Shehyn* held that § 12-309 applies to only two types of torts: (1) a tortious act of a District employee for which the District must answer in *respondeat superior*, such as false arrest, automobile collisions, or medical negligence, and (2) an act of the District itself if the District is unaware of the injury resulting from its breach, such as the failure to maintain public property. ⁶⁰ If the District is aware of the injury resulting from its own tortious act, then the claim is exempt under *Shehyn* and "§ 12-309 compliance will be unnecessary." ⁶¹ The statute does not apply to breach of contract claims against the District, "where—almost by definition—the District is on notice that any breach will result in an injury."

Here, BET's tortious interference claims arise from an act of the District itself, by the Mayor, to deny consent. The resulting injury is the natural and intended consequence of the District's tortious act: when it denied its consent, the District knew that Acquisition Corp. could not assign the leases and BET would be unable to close with Jemal's TEB. 10/8/20 AM Tr. 9:5-8. Since the tortious conduct is a decision of the District itself, and the District knew of the injury that is the natural

Washington v. District of Columbia, 429 A.2d 1362, 1365 (D.C. 1981) (en banc) (noting statute's purpose is to assure the District has timely opportunity to access relevant facts).

⁶⁰ Shehyn, 392 A.2d at 1013-14; District of Columbia v. Campbell, 580 A.2d 1295, 1299 (D.C. 1990).

⁶¹ Campbell, 580 A.2d at 1299.

⁶² George v. Dade, 769 A.2d 760, 767 (D.C. 2001).

s 12-309 was unnecessary. The trial court reached the correct result, and *Shehyn* and *Campbell* provide an alternative ground upon which this court may affirm.

The District attempts to avoid the controlling effect of *Shehyn* on the ground that the claims at issue were in contract, not tort. This is untrue. One of the claims subject to the notice defense was conversion of property.⁶³ Conversion is a tort.⁶⁴ In *Campbell*, this court interpreted *Shehyn* exactly as BET offers here:

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